

Anti-LGBT Violence & Harassment

In Massachusetts

September 2018

This document is intended to provide general information only and cannot provide guidance or legal advice as to one's specific situation. Moreover, the law is constantly changing and evolving and this publication is based upon the information that is known to us as of this printing. For guidance on your particular situation, you must consult a lawyer. You should not act independently on this information. The provision of this information is not meant to create an attorney-client relationship. Check our website, www.glad.org, for more information.

If you have questions about this publication, other legal issues or need lawyer referrals, contact GLAD Answers at www.GLADAnswers.org or by phone weekdays between 1:30 and 4:30 pm at (800) 455-GLAD (4523).

Contents

■ INTRODUCTION	1
■ ANTI-LGBT HARASSMENT & VIOLENCE	2
Prevalence	2
Types of Violence	3
Selected Indications of Anti-LGBT Bias	3
Responding to Anti-LGBT Violence	4
The Effects of Hate Crime	5
■ VICTIMS' LEGAL RIGHTS	7
Overview	7
Criminal Prosecution	7
Federal Hate Crimes Law	10
Injunctive Relief	12
Civil Suits for Damages	19
Victim Compensation	20
Hate Crime Reporting Laws	21
■ RESOURCES FOR VICTIMS OF VIOLENCE	23



INTRODUCTION

This publication was jointly created by GLBTQ Legal Advocates & Defenders (GLAD) and the Violence Recovery Program at Fenway Community Health Center.

GLAD is New England's leading legal rights organization dedicated to ending discrimination based on sexual orientation, HIV status and gender identity and expression.

Fenway's Violence Recovery Program (VRP) provides counseling, support groups, advocacy, and referral services to Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual and Transgender (LGBT) victims of bias crime, domestic violence, sexual assault and police misconduct.

This publication aims to provide information and resources regarding violence and harassment experienced by lesbians, gay men, bisexuals, and transgender people.

Please note that the information contained in this publication is not intended as legal advice. Contact GLAD Answers at www.GLADAnswers.org or by phone at (800) 455-GLAD (4523) for additional information or for a referral to an attorney if you need legal advice about a specific situation.

ANTI-LGBT HARASSMENT & VIOLENCE

Prevalence

How pervasive is anti-gay, lesbian, bisexual, and transgender harassment and violence?

According to the 2016 Federal Bureau of Investigation hate crime statistics¹, nationally 6,121 hate crime incidents were reported --an increase of five percent from 2015. Of the 6,121 incidents reported, 1,076 were based on sexual orientation bias and 124 were based on gender identity bias. These numbers reflect a two percent and nine percent increase, respectively from 2015.

Of the 124 incidents based on gender identity, 19 targeted gender non-conforming people, a decrease of 54 percent from 2015. Yet, of those same 124 incidents, 105 targeted transgender people, an increase of 44 percent from 2015.

However, these numbers likely represent only a fraction of such cases, given that reporting hate crimes to the FBI is not mandatory. Thousands of law enforcement agencies throughout the country did not submit any data.

The *Boston Globe* reported that an analysis of police data shows that in 2016 members of the LGBT community were the most frequently reported targets of hateful acts in Boston, enduring more assaults, threats, and harassment than any other group.² And it is a trend that appears to be persisting—numbers from the first two months of 2017 indicate a similar pattern.

¹ See https://ucr.fbi.gov/hate-crime/2016/hate-crime.

² See https://www.bostonglobe.com/metro/2017/03/22/lgbt-community-top-target-for-hate-acts-boston/6jgvxACsmfMScu1SgACGBO/story.html

Types of Violence

What kinds of anti-LGBT violent crimes exist?

'Violence' can take both verbal and physical forms. Harassment, threats, intimidation, vandalism, physical assault, robbery, arson and homicide are all considered to be forms of violence. With the exception of some kinds of verbal harassment, all of these also constitute crimes under Massachusetts law.

When does harassment rise to the level of a crime under Massachusetts law?

In Massachusetts, verbal harassment can be prosecuted as a crime only when it occurs over the phone (at least twice) or when it occurs in such a way as to threaten someone or interfere with constitutionally protected rights. In some cases, verbal harassment that does not meet Massachusetts criminal standards may still be a violation of Massachusetts civil laws, such as laws barring sexual orientation discrimination in housing, public accommodations, employment and school settings.³

Selected Indications of Anti-LGBT Bias

What can a victim of violence or harassment use to show that the crime was motivated by anti-LGBT bias?

- Verbal or written slurs (e.g., "faggot", "dyke", "tranny", etc.)
- Location of the incident (e.g., outside a LGBT bar, at a Pride Day parade)

_

³ For information on discrimination law in Massachusetts, see GLAD's publication *Massachusetts Overview of Legal Issues for Gay Men, Lesbians, Bisexuals and Transgender People* at: https://www.glad.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/01/ma-lgbt-overview.pdf.

- Victim identified and targeted because of appearance or behavior (e.g., holding hands with same-sex partner, wearing a pink triangle)
- No other apparent motivation for the crime (e.g., person is beaten up but not robbed.)

Responding to Anti-LGBT Violence

What should a victim do immediately after an incident?

- Seek medical attention if needed.
- Consider reporting the incident to police if you are comfortable doing so on your own. Report any indications of anti-LGBT bias the first time you talk to police, if possible. If you wish to press charges, a police report will be required and investigation will be necessary to positively identify the perpetrators, unless they are already known to you. Police should (but may neglect to) advise you of what will be required to investigate and bring charges.
- Call the Violence Recovery Program (VRP) for emotional support and/or advocacy (see Resources section). VRP advocates provide emotional support and practical assistance to victims of anti-LGBT violence. The VRP will discuss your options for responding to the incident and make referrals as needed. The VRP can assist you in reporting the incident, pursuing an investigation, or pursuing a case in court. The VRP also can provide ideas for responding to an incident that don't necessarily involve the police and courts, such as filing complaints or seeking mediation. All calls are confidential, and you will not be required to give your name.

- Write or tape record a detailed and orderly account of the incident. Describe with as much detail as possible exactly what happened, including anything that was said and the names or descriptions of any witnesses. Details that may be important to an investigation can fade quickly in the memory.
- If you have visible injuries from the attack, take pictures of them and go to a doctor so you will have medical records to document the injuries.
- Keep all documentation (e.g. notes, medical records, photos, police reports) in a safe place.

The Effects of Hate Crime

What can be some of the negative after effects of anti-LGBT violence?

Because of the nature of hate crimes, they can affect people in certain ways. In addition to general post-traumatic symptoms that affect victims of any trauma (such as difficulty sleeping; appetite changes; hypervigilance or jumpiness; flashbacks or intrusive thoughts; increased depression, irritability or difficulty concentrating; a shattered sense of faith or trust in the world)4, victims of anti-LGBT bias crimes may experience additional disruption in the form of:

- shame, guilt, self-blame and/or an increase in negative feelings about oneself
- an increase in internalized homophobia (negative attitudes toward LGBT people)
- a desire to retreat from LGBT identity or behavior

⁴ Acute forms and combinations of these symptoms are sometimes referred to as "post-traumatic stress disorder" (PTSD). For further information on this topic see: Herman, Judith. Trauma and Recovery. New York: Basic Books, 1992.

- lack of trust in authorities or service providers who are supposed to help
- acute awareness of society's oppression: homophobia, sexism, racism or anti-transgenderism

No two people experience trauma in the same way, but if you are experiencing any of the above, it's important to remember that such symptoms are a normal response to a traumatic event.

Where can a victim turn for help?

If you are troubled with feelings in the aftermath of an incident, you may want to consider talking with a LGBT-friendly counselor. Free crisis counseling is available through the Violence Recovery Program. For longer-term counseling, you can see ads in the LGBT press or call the Fenway Community Health Center Behavioral Health Department (see Resources section).

VICTIMS' LEGAL RIGHTS

Overview

What legal options do victims of anti-LGBT violence have?

Victims of anti-gay, lesbian, bisexual or transgender violence have three general types of legal recourse if they decide to take legal action against their attackers:

- 1. criminal prosecution,
- 2. injunctive relief,
- 3. civil suits for damages.

Victims of hate crimes should also be aware of the Massachusetts Victim Compensation Program⁵ and of state and federal hate crime reporting laws.

Criminal Prosecution

Does a law have to mention anti-LGBT violence to help a victim?

No. All laws that criminalize violence can obviously be applied to anti-LGBT violence. For example, slashing tires is malicious destruction of property, whether or not motivated by anti-lesbian bias. Punching someone is assault and battery, whether or not the person was struck because they were seen to be a 'man dressed as a woman.' Hate crimes law in Massachusetts, however, provides for 'criminal civil rights' charges to be brought *in addition* to such standard charges.

7

⁵ See http://www.mass.gov/ago/public-safety/resources-for-victims/victims-of-violent-crime/victim-compensation.html.

What are the relevant Massachusetts Criminal Civil Rights (Hate Crimes) statutes?

Mass. General Laws, Chapter 265, section 37: Passed in 1979, provides that:

- Whoever, by force of threat of force
- Willfully injures, intimidates, interferes with, oppresses or threatens a
- Person in the exercise of a right secured by constitution or law (examples of secured rights include the right to be free from discrimination in a place of public accommodation, the right to free speech, and the right to associate freely with others of one's own choosing.)
- Stands subject to a maximum ten-year prison sentence if bodily injury occurs; one year in a house of correction if no injury occurs.

Mass. General Laws, Chapter 265, section 39: Passed in 1983, amended in July, 1996 to include "sexual orientation or disability" and amended July 2012 to include "gender identity", provides that:

- Whoever commits an assault and/or battery or property damage
- With the intent to intimidate a person because of that person's race or ethnicity, religion, national origin, sexual orientation, gender identity or disability
- Without bodily injury, stands subject to a maximum of two and a half years in a house of correction, a fine of up to \$10,000,

and/or restitution to the victim in the amount of up to three times resulting property damage.

• With bodily injury, stands subject to the above fine and a maximum of five years in state prison.

How are criminal charges initiated?

Criminal charges can be initiated by the police or by a citizen him or herself. The Clerk Magistrate in the relevant court determines whether there is sufficient cause to charge a defendant for each proposed charge.

How can a victim help initiate criminal charges?

- File a police report.
- Police may investigate, then file a complaint in court on your behalf.
- If they do not, you can file an application for a complaint at the Clerk's Office in the courthouse that has jurisdiction over the area where the crime occurred. In order to do this, you must know the perpetrator's name and address (or have obtained it via a police investigation). You may want the assistance of an advocate or an attorney before taking this step.

Why might civil rights charges not be filed?

In some cases, sufficient cause is found for base charges such as assault and battery, but not for the civil rights (hate crime) charges. Reasons for the failure to issue hate crimes charges can range form the lack of strong evidence of bias indicators, to ignorance or indifference about hate crimes laws on the part of the police or court personnel involved in the case.

Does a victim need to hire an attorney to help prosecute a civil rights charge?

If it files charges, the District Attorney's Office prosecutes the case on behalf of the victim and the State; the victim is not required to hire an attorney. The victim participates as a witness if called to do so.

What are the possible penalties if the defendant is found guilty or accepts a plea agreement?

The sentence may include a fine, restitution paid to the victim, a prison term or probation.

Where can victims turn for help navigating the criminal justice system?

The criminal justice system can seem overwhelming and confusing even to people who are used to dealing with it. Massachusetts has an Office for Victim Assistance⁶, and most courthouses have a Victim Witness Advocate assigned to offer some help to people in the system. Advocates work out of the DA's office and are most available for cases that have already resulted in formal charges. For additional help negotiating the system, you may want to contact the VRP or GLAD (see Resources section).

Federal Hate Crimes Law

In what ways might the recently passed federal hate crimes law help to investigate and prosecute hate crimes?

The Matthew Shepard and James Byrd, Jr. Hate Crimes Prevention Act⁷ was passed by Congress on October 22, 2009 and was signed into law by President Obama on October 28, 2009. It expands the 1969

_

⁶ See https://www.mass.gov/orgs/massachusetts-office-for-victim-assistance.

⁷ See https://www.justice.gov/crt/matthew-shepard-and-james-byrd-jr-hate-crimes-prevention-act-2009-0.

United States federal hate crime law to include crimes motivated by a victim's actual or perceived gender, sexual orientation, gender identity or disability.

First, and perhaps foremost, the Act allows local and state law enforcement agencies to apply for the following federal assistance from the U.S. Attorney General:

- investigative, technical, forensic or prosecutorial support for criminal investigations and prosecutions,
- grants for extraordinary expenses associated with the investigation and prosecution of hate crimes, and
- grants to combat hate crimes committed by juveniles.

The priority in providing assistance to local and state authorities are hate crimes:

- where the offender(s) has committed crimes in more than one state, or
- that occur in rural areas which do not have the resources needed to prosecute such crimes.

Second, for hate crimes that in some way involve crossing state or national borders, or involve or affect interstate commerce, and where a state does not have jurisdiction or has requested federal assumption of jurisdiction, or where the federal government feels that justice has not been served or that U.S. prosecution is in the public interest, the Act authorizes the federal government to prosecute the case.

The Act also requires the Federal Bureau of Investigation to track statistics on hate crimes on the basis of gender and gender identity (statistics for the other groups are already tracked) and on crimes committed by and against juveniles. This is the first federal law to explicitly extend legal protections to transgender persons.

Injunctive Relief

What is an injunction?

An injunction is a court order that restrains an individual from doing certain things because he or she is believed to have harassed or abused another person and because the victim is fearful that s/he will be harmed again. Injunctions may include orders to stop abuse, cease all contact with the victim or the victim's family, or vacate a shared dwelling.

Stay-Away Orders, Civil Rights Injunctions, Domestic Violence
Restraining Orders and Harassment Prevention Orders are all types of injunctions frequently used by victims of violence and harassment. Although injunctions are civil in nature, the violation of an injunction is a criminal offense.

STAY-AWAY ORDERS

Is there a way to prohibit a defendant from contacting the victim while not in custody?

Yes, a **Stay-Away Order**. When criminal charges are pending, a judge may issue verbal or written orders that require the defendant to stay away from the victim as a condition of the defendant's release from custody. Orders may be issued when the defendant is formally charged, or at a later stage of the criminal prosecution. Violations of these orders should be brought to the attention of the District Attorney's Office immediately and may affect the defendant's release or bail conditions.

You may request a stay-away order through the prosecutor and advocate handling your case.

CIVIL RIGHTS INJUNCTIONS

The Civil Rights Act of 1979 includes a provision for injunctions in hate crime cases.⁸ In situations where the perpetrator has interfered with or attempted to interfere with secured rights, and the victim is fearful of future intimidation, a victim can ask the State Attorney General's Office to petition the court on his or her behalf for the protection of an injunction. This kind of 'Civil Rights Injunction' can even stipulate that an attacker stop harassing not only the victim, but also anyone in the same protected class (for example, all African Americans, or all gay men and lesbians).

How can a victim obtain a Civil Rights Injunction?

You can seek this kind of injunction through the police detectives working on your case, or by directly calling the Attorney General's Civil Rights Division (see Resources section). Indicate that you would like to pursue an injunction. The Violence Recovery Program can also help you work with the Attorney General's Office. There is no fee.

What are the penalties for violating a Civil Rights Injunction?

Violations of these injunctions are criminal offenses and may be punished with fines, imprisonment or both.⁹ One drawback of this type of injunction is that it can take several months to obtain.

Can a victim petition for an injunction directly?

Yes. Massachusetts law provides for individuals to petition the court for injunctions directly.¹⁰

Onapie

⁸ Chapter 12, section 11H.

⁹ Chapter 12, section 11J, a 1983 amendment.

¹⁰ Chapter 12, section 11I.

What are the advantages of petitioning for an injunction directly?

The major advantage to this option is that the injunction can be in place much sooner than if the Attorney General's Office were to handle the petitioning process.

What are the disadvantages petitioning for an injunction directly?

There are several disadvantages though. First, the court charges fees for this. (However, if you prevail in this action you are entitled to an award including costs and attorney's fees.) Second, though not required, the process may feel daunting without an attorney. Third, the violation of this type of injunction is considered a civil matter rather than a criminal offense. This means that if there is a violation of the order, you or your attorney must file a civil complaint for contempt of court and present the evidence of the violation yourselves.

How does a victim petition to bring an injunction?

To get this kind of injunction, you or your attorney must file a petition at the Civil Clerk's Office at the **Superior Court** having jurisdiction over your town of residence. There is a filing fee which must be paid by the complainant before a judge will consider the case, though this may be waived by the clerk if you can demonstrate low income. If a judge decides to issue the injunction, the complainant must pay an additional fee for the Sheriff to serve the order to the defendant (also may be waived). In some cases, a judge might order the person served to reimburse the complainant for these expenses.

DOMESTIC VIOLENCE RESTRAINING ORDERS

Under Mass. General Law Chapter 209A, **Domestic Violence Restraining Orders** (also known as 209As) are available when the perpetrator and victim have either lived together (this includes roommate situations), are or were married to each other, are family members, have

a child in common (who is under 18 years old), or have been in a substantial dating relationship with one another (this applies equally to different-sex and same-sex couples).

What is a 'substantial dating relationship'?

In determining whether a dating relationship was substantial or not, the judge will look at the length of the relationship, the type of relationship (whether it was sexual or not), the frequency of interaction between the parties and the length of time since the relationship ended if it has ended.

What are the possible penalties for violating a Domestic Violence Restraining Order?

Violations are criminal offenses and can result in the immediate arrest of the abuser.

How does a victim file for a Domestic Violence Restraining Order?

Victims can file an application for a temporary restraining order (specifying 'domestic violence' or '209A') in the clerk's Office at the District Court with jurisdiction over the neighborhood in which they live, or at Boston Municipal Court, or at a Superior Court. In emergency situations after normal business hours, orders may be obtained through a police officer or at a police station.

How does the victim keep his or her new address secret?

In order to keep an abuser from learning the new address of a victim, the victim needs to request that their address be "impounded". This will not be available, however, with a 'stay away' order, since a stay away order needs to specify where the abuser is not supposed to go. A victim's address is always kept confidential from the public.

How long does a temporary restraining order last?

Temporary orders are good for ten days, and are generally issued upon request, providing a relationship between victim and offender that is covered by the law and a credible allegation of abuse, threats of abuse, or sexual assault.

How does a victim extend the temporary order?

A hearing to extend the order for up to one year is scheduled for ten days after the order is granted. There is no fee. The defendant can choose not to show up at the extension hearing, but the victim is required to be present at that hearing for the order to be extended. A lawyer is not needed for the temporary order; in certain cases, it may be helpful to have one for the extension hearing if you think the order is going to be contested by the abuser.

Does the restraining order restrict the victim's activities or contacts?

No. Restraining orders do not restrict the activities or contacts of the victim. A 209A is not voided if the victim contacts the restrained person, though once in contact the restrained person would be in violation of the order.

HARASSMENT PREVENTION ORDERS

Effective May 10, 2010, a law went into effect that provides the opportunity for persons who are victims of harassment to obtain a restraining order without needing a dating or close family relationship to the perpetrator, as is required to obtain a Domestic Violence Restraining Order (see above). The new law, Chapter 258E of the General Laws, provides for the victim to be able to petition his/her local court (district court, superior court, Boston Municipal Court or juvenile court—if both the victim and harasser are under 17 years of age) to issue the **Harassment Prevention Order**.

16

No filing fees or fees for certified copies of the order are charged, but there may be other court costs. In emergency situations after the court is closed, you can get a temporary order from the police, but you will still have to appear in court the next business day. Filing for a Harassment Prevention Order does not preclude pursuing other civil or criminal remedies, but you must disclose any prior or pending actions with the harasser when you file your complaint.

What do I need to show in order to get a Harassment Prevention Order?

You need to document:

- the harasser committed three or more acts against you of willful and malicious conduct that caused fear, intimidation, abuse or damage to property; or
- the harasser forced you to involuntarily engage in sexual relations; or
- the harasser violated any of the criminal laws in Chapter 265 that pertain to sex with a minor, indecent assault and battery, rape, stalking or the law in Chapter 272 that deals with drugging for sexual intercourse.

What measures can the court take to protect the victim from future harassment?

The court may first issue a temporary Harassment Prevention Order for up to 10 days to protect the victim which may include instructing the harasser:

- to refrain from abusing or harassing the victim,
- to refrain from contacting the victim,

- to stay away from the victim's home or workplace, and
- to pay the victim monetary compensation for the losses suffered as a direct result of the harassment.

How does the victim extend the temporary order?

After granting the temporary order, the harasser must be notified and be given an opportunity within 10 days to appear in court and to be heard on the question of continuing the temporary order. If the harasser does not appear, the temporary order will automatically be extended. The court can extend the Harassment Prevention Order for up to a year. At the expiration of the order, the victim can petition the court to provide another extension. The court may modify the order at any time based upon a petition from either party.

What happens if the harasser violates the Harassment Prevention Order?

Violation of the order is a criminal offense punishable by a fine of not more than \$5,000 or by imprisonment of not more than 2 ½ years, or both.

What if I have a protection order issued by another jurisdiction?

Provided the victim presents the appropriate Massachusetts court with a certified copy of the protection order and a sworn affidavit that the order is presently in effect as written, the protection order will be enforced in Massachusetts for as long as the order was in effect in the issuing jurisdiction.

Civil Suits for Damages

What damages need to have occurred for a victim to be eligible to seek financial compensation by filing a civil suit against the attacker?

If you have suffered severe physical or emotional distress or financial loss (e.g. medical bills, lost wages) as a result of an attack, you may be able to file a civil suit seeking financial compensation from your attacker.

Does the victim need an attorney?

To be successful in most civil suits, the victim will need an attorney in order to file and argue a case.

Do the police and/or district attorney become involved in a civil suit?

The police and DA's office do not become involved in civil cases. Responsibility for filing a complaint and presenting evidence rests with the victim.

What financial obligations might a victim incur in bringing a civil suit?

An attorney may spend a considerable amount of time preparing a civil case. This can be expensive since the fee for an attorney's services is often based on an hourly rate. Attorneys may be willing to take a case on a contingency basis (that is, they will take a percentage of any damage awards instead of an hourly fee) but this is likely only if the victim has suffered significant demonstrable financial losses and the defendant has enough assets to pay a substantial amount in damage and the case is a strong one. Even if the attorney can take the case on contingency, up front money will still be needed for certain expenses required to prepare the case (filing fees, private investigator expenses, witness depositions, etc.)

How does a victim initiate a civil suit?

The victim should contact a civil attorney to discuss the specific details of your case. Attorney referrals are available from GLAD Answers (see Resources section).

Victim Compensation

Are there additional ways to seek financial compensation?

Yes. In addition to the ways mentioned above—1) having the perpetrator be found guilty of criminal charges and ordered by a judge to pay restitution to the victim; or 2) by suing the perpetrator in civil court—a victim may seek financial reimbursement through the **Massachusetts Victim Compensation Program**¹¹ administered by the Attorney General's Office.

This fund is available to reimburse victims or surviving family members for out-of-pocket expenses (e.g., medical, dental, counseling, lost wages, funeral expenses) related to crime. In order to qualify, you must report the crime to police within five days (or have a reasonable excuse for not having done so), you must cooperate with authorities in their investigation and prosecution, you must apply within three years of the crime's occurrence, and your expenses must exceed \$100.

What if the perpetrator was never caught or was not found guilty?

It's very important to note that this fund is available even when your perpetrator is not caught or when he or she is found not guilty in court. As long as you report the crime and cooperate with authorities, you are eligible. For more information, contact the Victim Compensation & Assistance Division (see Resources section).

20

¹¹ See ttp://www.mass.gov/ago/public-safety/resources-for-victims/victims-of-violent-crime/victim-compensation.html.

Hate Crimes Reporting Laws

Are police required to keep track of hate crimes?

Massachusetts law requires the State Police to collect hate crime statistics from police departments throughout the State, and to compile them into an annual hate crimes report. Compliance by local police departments is voluntary, however, and participation has varied from year to year. Though many departments do a very good job of tracking hate crimes, several relatively large police departments have—rather implausibly—reported zero hate crimes in certain years, which may indicate a lack of ability, effort or will to properly identify, investigate and track hate crime.

Doesn't the FBI track hate crimes?

Yes. There is also a federal hate crimes reporting law which requires the FBI to track hate crimes, including those motivated by sexual orientation and gender identity bias. However, local police compliance is again voluntary and reporting is spotty.

Do any private organizations track anti-LGBT hate crimes?

Yes. The Violence Recovery Program has for many years released its own annual report of anti-LGBT violence in Massachusetts. The report is prepared in collaboration with the National Coalition of Anti-Violence Programs (NCAVP). The VRP/NCAVP report includes incidents that were reported directly to member programs throughout the country, even if they were not reported to police.

Why is the VRP report important?

The VRP report provides an important barometer for the incidence of anti-LGBT crime, and valuable data for comparison to the State report. For a copy of the latest report, contact the VRP (see back page).

The VRP report has been instrumental in drawing attention to the realities of anti-LGBT violence and has over the years been influential in lobbying for some of the legislative advances the LGBT community has obtained. All victims or witnesses of anti-LGBT violence should report incidents to the VRP, even if no other assistance is desired, and regardless of whether the incident is reported to police. This will help create a clear and accurate picture of the problem.

Do victims or witnesses of anti-LGBT violence need to identify themselves?

No. Reports can be made anonymously, if preferred.

RESOURCES FOR VICTIMS OF VIOLENCE

Violence Recovery Program (VRP)

The Violence Recovery Program at Fenway Community Health Center provides counseling, support, advocacy, and referral services for LGBT victims of bias crime, domestic violence, sexual assault and police misconduct. In addition, the VRP compiles statewide statistics on antigay hate crime and same-sex domestic violence. Long-term counseling is available through Fenway's Behavioral Health Department.

Violence Recovery Program

https://fenwayhealth.org/care/behavioral-health/violence-recovery/

Cape Cod (857) 313-6681 Western MA (857) 313-6638 Boston (617) 927-6250 Jamaica Plain (617) 437-6200

Behavioral Health Department

https://fenwayhealth.org/care/behavioral-health/

(617) 927-6202

GLAD Answers

GLAD Answers provides free, confidential legal information and referrals to people who have legal questions relating to sexual orientation, gender identity and expression, and HIV status. GLAD Answers can help victims of violence understand what legal options may be available to them and connect callers to sensitive, LGBT-friendly lawyers. There is a translation service available free of charge for people whose native language is not English.

www.GLADAnswers.org or by phone at (800) 455-GLAD (4523).

The Network / La Red

The Network works to end domestic violence in the lesbian, bisexual women's, and transgender community. It offers a bilingual hotline, free support group in the Boston area, legal and other referrals and community education. It seeks to create a culture in which domination, coercion, and control are no longer accepted and operative social norms.

http://tnlr.org/en/617-742-4911

Attorney General's Office

The Massachusetts Attorney General is the head law enforcement officer in the Commonwealth who enforces hate crime laws and other criminal statutes. The Attorney General is charged with protecting the "people's interest." The Attorney General's office may advocate on behalf of an individual crime victim if compelled to do so by broad civil rights concerns.

Civil Rights Division

 $\underline{http://www.mass.gov/ago/bureaus/public-protection-and-advocacy/the-\underline{civil-rights-division/}}$

617-727-8400

Victim Compensation & Assistance Division

http://www.mass.gov/ago/public-safety/resources-for-victims/victims-of-violent-crime/victim-compensation.html

617-727-2200 Ext. 2160

Through strategic litigation, public policy advocacy, and education, GLBTQ Legal Advocates & Defenders works in New England and nationally to create a just society free of discrimination based on gender identity, HIV status, and sexual orientation.

GLAD Answers and publications are provided free of charge to all who need them. We hope that those who are able will make a contribution to ensure that GLAD can continue the fight for equal justice under the law.

To make a tax-deductible contribution, log on to www.glad.org, or call us at (800) 455-GLAD (4523) with your credit card, or mail your check, payable to GLAD to 18 Tremont Street, Suite 950, Boston, MA 02108. If your workplace has a matching gift program, please be sure to have your donation matched. Please contact us if you would like more information on becoming a GLAD partner.

Thank You!



GLBTQ Legal Advocates & Defenders 18 Tremont Street, Suite 950 Boston, MA 02108 Tel 617.426.1350 1.800.455.GLAD (4523) Fax 617.426.3594

www.glad.org